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January 30, 2025  
 
Via Email and Federal Express Overnight 
Kevin Dehmer, Acting Commissioner 
New Jersey Department of Education 
100 River View Plaza  
P.O. Box 500 
Trenton, NJ 08625-0500  
  
Re: Middletown Township Board of Education and Daniel Rodrick  
  
Dear Acting Commissioner Dehmer:  
  
Please be advised that this firm is Board Counsel to the Middletown Township Board of 
Education (“Board”) and will be representing the Board in regards to the tenure charges that are 
being filed against one of its teaching staff members, Daniel Rodrick. At its meeting on January 
27, 2025, and during closed, executive session, the Board determined that there was probable 
cause sufficient to credit the evidence in support of the tenure charges that its Superintendent of 
Schools, Dr. Jessica L. Alfone, brought against Mr. Rodrick. Enclosed with this correspondence 
is a copy of the following:  
 

1. Dr. Alfone’s December 19, 2024, Sworn Tenure Charges;  
2. Dr. Alfone’s December 19, 2024, Statement of Evidence;  
3. Dr. Alfone’s December 19, 2024, notification to Mr. Rodrick that tenure charges were 

filed with the Board of Education; 
4. Dr. Alfone’s December 19, 2024, notification to Amy Doherty that tenure charges were 

filed with the Board of Education; 
5. Mr. Rodrick’s January 10, 2025, Response and Rebuttal to the Tenure Charges, through 

his attorney, Sanford R. Oxfeld, Esq.;   
6. Board’s January 27, 2025 Certificate of Determination in support of the tenure charges; 
7. January 28, 2025 notice to Daniel Rodrick, through counsel, that the Board of Education 

found probable cause and did certify the tenure charges filed against him; and  
8. Certificate of Service upon Mr. Rodrick of the filing of the Sworn Tenure Charges and 

Statement of Evidence with the Commissioner of Education.  
 



 
 
 

In addition to the foregoing documents, set forth below is a summary of the anticipated 
testimony to be provided by the Board’s expert and factual witnesses: 
 

a. Shannon Smith, Principal of Thorne Middle School, may testify regarding, but 
not limited to, her service as Principal; her responsibilities as Principal; her involvement in 
investigating and resolving the various complaints filed with the District concerning Rodrick 
at the time that she was Rodrick’s immediate supervisor; her interactions and 
communications with Rodrick, including with regards to Rodrick’s failure to attend several 
faculty meetings; her communications and interactions with administrators, staff, and 
students regarding Rodrick’s classroom conduct; the District’s expectations regarding teacher 
conduct, instruction, grading, and interaction with students; and, she may also provide 
rebuttal testimony to evidence presented by Mr. Rodrick, including any fact and/or expert 
witness he may present in his defense. 
 

b. Dr. Lindsay Lorson, Assistant Principal of Thorne Middle School, may testify 
regarding, but not limited to, her service as Assistant Principal; her responsibilities as 
Assistant Principal; her involvement in investigating and resolving the various complaints 
filed with the District concerning Mr. Rodrick; her interactions and communications with Mr. 
Rodrick, including with regards to Mr. Rodrick’s failure to attend several faculty meetings; 
her communications and interactions with administrators, staff, and students regarding Mr. 
Rodrick’s classroom conduct; the District’s expectations regarding teacher conduct, 
instruction, grading and interaction with students; and she may also provide rebuttal 
testimony to evidence presented by Mr. Rodrick, including any fact and/or expert witness he 
may present in his defense. 

 
c. James Homiak, former Assistant Principal of Thorne Middle School, may 

testify regarding, but not limited to, his service as Assistant Principal; his responsibilities as 
Assistant Principal; his involvement in investigating and resolving the various complaints 
filed with the District concerning Mr. Rodrick; his interactions and communications with Mr. 
Rodrick; his communications and interactions with administrators, staff, and students 
regarding Mr. Rodrick’s classroom conduct; the District’s expectations regarding teacher 
conduct, instruction, grading, and interaction with students; and, he may also provide rebuttal 
testimony to evidence presented by Mr. Rodrick, including any fact and/or expert witness he 
may present in his defense.  

 
d. Dr. Jessica Alfone, current Superintendent of Schools, may testify regarding, 

but not limited to, her service as the Superintendent of Schools of the District; the roles and 
responsibilities of school teachers; the performance and conduct expectations and essential 
duties of school teachers; her involvement in investigating and resolving various complaints 
concerning Mr. Rodrick; her administrative review of Mr. Rodrick’s personnel record and 
performance during the course of his employment with the District; the District’s 
expectations regarding teacher conduct, instruction, and interaction with students; and, may 
also provide rebuttal testimony to evidence presented by Mr. Rodrick, including any fact 
and/or expert witness he may present in his defense.  
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January 10, 2025 
 
 
Bruce Padula, Esq. 
Via Email Only 
 
 RE:  Daniel Rodrick/Middletown Township Board of Education 
 
Dear Mr. Padula, 
 
 Pursuant to NJSA 18A:6-10, et seq, please accept this missive as Mr. Rodrick’s response 
at this stage to the tenure charges. 
 
 Initially, I will be representing Mr. Rodrick in this matter. 
 
 I have reviewed the Charges with Mr. Rodrick.  We believe two things.  First, said 
Charges are bereft of factual and legal support.  As but one example, attached hereto are Mr. 
Rodrick’s last five years of evaluations and annual summatives.  He was rated Highly Effective 
in each.  In even his most recent evaluation, dated November 22, 2024, he was rated as being 
effective in all domains.  What is exceptionally significant, considering the specific allegations 
being made against him, is that in no observation, evaluation, or summative evaluation, was there 
ever a mention of any complaints of any kind. There is absolutely no mention of the allegations 
contained in the charges. 
 
 In light of the fact that Mr. Rodrick has been repeatedly found by the Middletown 
Township Board of Education’s administration to be a superlative teacher, and the fact that there 
is no prior disciplinary record, the question must be asked as to why these Charges are being 
pursued now, and how are the students in Middletown are better off, with these Charges being 
pursued at this time. 
 



 There is one additional point that must be made.  Not only do we factually deny the 
allegations of the Charges at this time, we must also note, that even if the Board were to accept 
the allegations against Mr. Rodrick as being true, the filing of Tenure Charges amounts to 
tremendous overkill.  Nothing with which he is charged warrants the certification of Charges.  
To the extent there may be a legitimate concern, progressive discipline should be followed 
herein. 
 
 
      Very truly yours, 

       
      Sanford R Oxfeld 
SRO/elj 
 
CC:  Daniel Rodrick 
        Lorraine Tesauro 
        Donald Burke, Jr., Esq 
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January 28, 2025  
  
Via Email & FedEx Overnight  
Sanford R. Oxfeld, Esq.  
Oxfeld Cohen PC  
60 Park Place, 6th Floor  
Newark, NJ 07102  
sro@oxfeldcohen.com 

Via Email & FedEx Overnight  
Donald F. Burke Jr., Esq. 
Law Office of Donald F. Burke 
45 Gale Road 
Brick, New Jersey 08723 

 
  
Re: Middletown Township Board of Education and Daniel Rodrick  
  
Gentleman:  
  
Please be advised that at its January 27, 2025 meeting, during closed executive session, a majority of the 
entire membership of the Middletown Township Board of Education determined that there was probable 
cause sufficient to credit the tenure charges and warrant dismissal of your client, Daniel Rodrick. As a 
result, the Board of Education will be filing the tenure charges and statement of evidence with the 
Commissioner of Education for a hearing. Enclosed for your records is a Certificate of Determination 
singed by the School Board Secretary.  The Board also determined to suspend Mr. Rodrick for 120 days 
without pay. 
 
Please regard this as your notice pursuant to N.J.S.A. 18A:6-11.  
  
Thank you for your attention to this matter. 
  
Very truly yours,  

 
Bruce W. Padula, Esq.  
BWP/sk  
   
c:         Jessica L. Alfone, Superintendent of Schools (via email)  
 Amy P. Doherty, Business Administrator/Board Secretary (via email)  
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CLEARY GIACOBBE ALFIERI JACOBS, LLC 
Bruce W. Padula, Esq. (ID #030431999) 
Attorneys at Law  
955 State Route 34, Suite 200 
Matawan, New Jersey 07747 
(732) 583-7474 
bpadula@cgajlaw.com 
Attorneys for Middletown Township Public School District Board of Education 

 
 
IN THE MATTER OF THE TENURE 
CHARGES AGAINST DANIEL RODRICK, 
TENURED TEACHER, EMPLOYED BY 
MIDDLETOWN TOWNSHIP PUBLIC 
SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD OF 
EDUCATION 
 

 
 
 
CERTIFICATION OF SERVICE 
 
 

 

 I certify that a copy of the Sworn Tenure Charges, Statement of Evidence, Certification of 

Determination by the Middletown Township Public School District Board of Education, and the 

accompanying documents listed in my January 30, 2025 correspondence has been sent to the 

following individuals at the addresses listed below: 

Kevin Dehmer 
Acting Commissioner of Education 
New Jersey Department of Education 

Judge Robert L. Carter Building 
100 River View Plaza  

P.O. Box 500 
Trenton, NJ 08625-0500 

By Federal Express Overnight, 
And via Email (ControversiesDisputesFilings@doe.nj.gov) 

 
Daniel Rodrick, by way of his attorneys, Sanford R. Oxfeld, Esq. 

Oxfeld Cohen PC  
60 Park Place, 6th Floor  

Newark, NJ 07102 
By Federal Express Overnight,  

And via Email (sro@oxfeldcohen.com) 
 

Daniel Rodrick, by way of his attorneys, Donald F. Burke, Jr., Esq. 
Law Office of Donald F. Burke 

45 Gale Road 
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Brick, New Jersey 08723 
By Federal Express Overnight, 

And via Email (dfburkejr@gmail.com) 
 

 CLEARY GIACOBBE ALFIERI JACOBS, LLC 
Attorneys for Middletown Township Board of Education  
 

 By:   /s/ Bruce W. Padula                                     
    BRUCE W. PADULA 
Dated: January 30, 2025  
 

 

 




